# ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION AND COLORECTAL CANCER: A CASE-CONTROL STUDY IN ARMENIA

# Master of Public Health Thesis Project Utilizing Professional Publication Framework

Narek Sarkissian, MD MPH Candidate

College of Health Sciences American University of Armenia

Primary Advisor: Marie Diener-West, PhD Secondary Advisor: B. Grace Sullivan, ARPN, PhD

> Yerevan, Armenia October 2005

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Introduction	1
General overview. Burden of Disease	1
Literature Review	3
Objectives	17
Subjects and Methods	17
Research question and study design	17
Study population	19
Definition of cases	19
Definition of controls	19
Exclusion criteria	19
Main variables	20
Ethical Consideration	20
Sample size	21
Data collection. Description of the Instrument	22
Data Analysis	23
Results	23
Discussion and recommendation	33
References:	38
List of Potential Journals for Publication	46
Appendix 1. English Version of Study Consent Form	48
Appendix 2. Russian Version of Study Consent Form	50
Appendix 3. Estimated sample size for two-sample comparison of proportions	
(equal samples). STATA results	52
Appendix 4. English Version of the Questionnaire	55
Appendix 5. Russian Version of the Questionnaire	57

# i

# Abstract

**Objectives:** Colorectal cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer mortality in the industrialized world. During the last decade, the incidence rate of colorectal cancer in Armenia has increased. The study aimed to explore an association between alcohol consumption and risk of colorectal cancer in Armenia.

<u>Subjects and Methods</u>: The study utilized a case-control design with one control for each case. 144 patients diagnosed with colorectal cancer during the study period from May to August, 2005 were included in the study as cases. The control group included patients seen in the same departments during the same period with diagnoses other than colorectal cancer such as hemorrhoid, perianal fistula, paraproctitis, anal fissure and others that are free of bowel disorders. Information was collected using self-administered questionnaire on various health-related issues, including drinking and smoking habits. All data were analyzed using SPSS and STATA software.

**<u>Results:</u>** The analysis showed that preference of vodka as the type of alcohol increases the risk of having colorectal cancer after controlling for other variables (OR=2.06; 95% CI 1.15-3.69 p-value 0.016) compared with non-drinkers. The risk of having colorectal cancer also increases with alcohol consumption of 3 or more drinks versus 1-2 drinks after controlling for other variables (OR=1.36; 95% CI 1.05-1.76; p-value 0.02). The analysis also showed no association between colorectal cancer and the frequency of alcohol use (OR=1.00; 95% CI 0.72-1.40; p-value 0.98). In addition, usage of alcohol in the participants' family during childhood significantly increases the risk of developing colorectal cancer (OR=6.45; 95% CI 1.74-13.54; p-value

ii

0.000). There is no confounding effect of smoking and BMI (OR=0.97; 95% CI 0.83-1.14; p-value 0.71). There is a potential confounding effect of age (OR=1.06; 95% CI 1.04-1.09; p-value 0.000).

**Conclusion:** The study has demonstrated evidence that there is a need for educational programs regarding the risks of alcohol consumption to make such information available for the public. Based on the results of the study, the public educational program should recommend avoiding use of vodka as the preferred alcohol type, shifting from amount of 3 or more drinks to a lesser amount of alcohol (1-2 drinks), and also should make people understand and get them acquainted with the result that the common use of alcohol in a child's upbringing significantly increases the risk of developing colorectal cancer. However, more research is needed to obtain data that might serve for decision-making regarding nation-wide preventive programs. Further, the observed protective effect of the frequent use of wine on developing colorectal cancer needs to be confirmed by additional research, since the results are not in agreement with those of previous studies.

iii

# Introduction

#### General Overview. Burden of Disease.

Colorectal cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer mortality in the industrialized world (2). Colorectal cancer is the second most common cause of death among patients with neoplastic diseases in the United States, after lung and breast cancer in women, and lung and prostate cancer in men (2). In the United States, 1 in 20 persons has colorectal cancer and about 60,000 people die annually, 93% of whom are at the age of 50 years and above (1, 23). The American Cancer Society estimates that about 106,370 new cases of colon cancer (50,400 men and 55,970 women) and 40,570 new cases of rectal cancer (23,220 men and 17,350 women) will be diagnosed in 2004 (6). Colorectal cancer is expected to cause about 56,730 deaths (28,320 men and 28,410 women) during 2004, accounting for about 10% of cancer deaths (6).

In 38 European countries, five cancers – lung, colon and rectum, breast, stomach, and prostate – accounted for more cases and deaths than all other cancers combined (71). Depending on sex, just four cancers accounted for more than half of the disease burden (71). The four most common primary sites in males were the lung, colon and rectum, stomach, and prostate (71). In females the main cancer sites were the breast, colon and rectum, stomach, and lung (71). In European countries, deaths from cancers of the colon and rectum ranked second (71).

In Armenia colorectal cancer is an important topic of discussion and concern in almost all branches of medicine. During the last decade, the incidence rate of colorectal cancer in Armenia has increased (1,3,23). In 1996 colorectal cancer appeared to be the

sixth most common cause of death among patients with neoplastic diseases, whereas in 2002, according to the statistical data from the World Health Organization (WHO), it appears to be the third, after breast and lung cancer in women, and lung and stomach cancer in men, and the sixth cause of death in Armenia (1,3,23). It has become a great public health concern in Armenia, and according to the forecasts of specialists, soon colorectal cancer will rank as the most widespread oncological disease. The incidence of colorectal cancer varies across locations of the colon. The most common site for colorectal cancer (up to 70%) is in the distal parts of the colon (sigmoid colon and rectum), followed by tumors in the ascending colon and caecum (16-18%) (22). Transverse and descending colons are affected in 10-12% and 8-10% respectively (22).

The 5-year relative survival rate is 90% for people whose colorectal cancer is treated at an early stage, before it has spread. But, only 38% of colorectal cancers are found at that early stage. Once the cancer has spread to nearby organs or lymph nodes, the 5-year relative survival rate goes down to 66%. For people whose colorectal cancer has spread to distant parts of the body such as the liver or lungs, the 5-year relative survival rate is 9% (6).

Only 3-5% of colorectal cancers are discovered at an early stage (1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> stages) (1, 23), and late-stage surgical or chemotherapeutic treatment offer poor prospects for survival. More than half of the colorectal cancer patients examined in Yerevan have disease that has spread to nearby organs or lymph nodes, already has a complicated inflammatory process and abscess present, or has spread to distant parts of the body such as the liver or lungs which negatively impact the life expectancy of the patients (1,23).

#### Literature Review.

Colorectal cancer is one of the most studied types of cancer. Colon cancer is essentially the only cancer that occurs with approximately equal frequency in men and women (4). Rates of colon cancer vary by race and ethnic status; the highest rates are seen among Caucasians of northern European origin and the lower rates among Caucasians of southern European background (4). Migrant studies have show n that the disease is particularly sensitive to changes in environment (4).

The risk factors for developing colorectal cancer include medical conditions, such as having inflammatory bowel diseases, a personal or family history of colorectal cancer or colorectal polyps, and certain hereditary syndromes. The risk of developing colorectal cancer increases with advancing **age**. There are also some modifiable factors, which enhance the risk of colorectal cancer, such as lack of physical activities, incorrect nutrition and absence of regular screening. Other factors, which might contribute to the risk of colorectal cancer, include obesity, alcohol consumption, and tobacco use.

One of the most important factors for the development of colorectal cancer is **polyps** (5, 31). Although there are many types of colonic polyps, only adenomatous polyps have the potential to develop into invasive cancer (5, 31, 42). Adenomas are benign neoplasms which are found throughout the large bowel. Although they are benign, they are considered true neoplasms and precursors of most colon cancer; there is evidence for an adenoma-carcinoma sequence (5, 31, 42, 48, 49). Some studies have found that 57% of early cancers were contiguous with benign adenomatous tissue (5). Others supported the suspected relationship between colorectal polyps and cancer incidence and extend the association to colorectal cancer mortality (42). The presence of

contiguous benign and malignant tissue suggests that cancer arose from the adenoma. More than 90% of cancers of the colon are adenocarcinomas (4). Finally, adenomatous polyps and carcinomas have similar risk factors (5).

There are some modifiable factors related to colon cancer. Some factors influence polyp development, while others influence neoplastic change. Physical activity, obesity, and consumption of a diet high in fat and low in fiber, bowel movement frequency, are associated with an increased risk of colorectal cancer (4, 7, 8, 10).

The majority of epidemiologic studies to date indicate that **obesity** is associated with an increased risk for colon cancer, especially among men (4, 7, 8). More than one billion adults worldwide are overweight and at least 300 million are clinically obese (72). In the analysis carried out for the World Health Report, 8-42% of certain cancers were attributable to high body mass index (BMI) (72). Several studies show a stronger relation between BMI and colon cancer death rates in men than in women (8, 72). The results of Ford's study agree with those of other prospective studies that have reported on the relation between obesity and colon cancer among men (7). However, in contrast to some other studies, Ford also found a strong association between body mass index and colon cancer among women (7). Increased stature, independent of weight, is associated with increased colon cancer risk, with odds ratios for men of 2.1 and for women of 1.6 (4).

Some studies have shown the importance of **inflammatory bowel diseases** in the colorectal cancer development (4, 11, 52). Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis, the inflammatory bowel diseases of unknown etiology, have long been known to be associated with a higher risk of colon cancer (4, 11, 52, 53). The risk of colon cancer increases with the duration of inflammatory bowel disease and the cancer in ulcerative

colitis should not be disregarded or underestimated (2, 52). Professor J.M. Rhodes in his study (1996) made a hypothesis that environmental factors work with an inherited genetic factor to produce Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, or colon cancer (54).

Decreased **physical activity** has emerged as a factor that is consistently associated with an increased risk of colon cancer (4, 32, 33). Physical activity may reduce the risk of colon cancer by effects of prostaglandins, reduced intestinal transit time, and higher antioxidant levels (72).Most studies have concentrated on occupational activity, although studies examining leisure time and total activity and participation in college athletics also have shown a reduced risk for the more active (4, 32, 33). The association has been observed in both sexes. The population-based cohort study conducted in Norway by Thune and Lund (1996) supports a protective effect of total physical activity on colon cancer, but not rectal cancer, in both males and females (32). Overall physical inactivity was estimated to cause 1.9 million deaths and 19 million DALYs globally, and about 10-16% of cases of colon and rectal cancers (72).

Various **occupational risk factors** have been studied in relation to colorectal cancer. The association has been most consistent for occupational exposure of asbestos. Also, described an elevated risk for colorectal cancer and adenomas among workers exposed to polypropylene (31).

The finding of significant interaction by **educational level** in men is hard to explain. This may reflect change or inadequate control for factors associated with lower education such as increased physical activity (8). All these data stress the importance of incorporating physical activity into one's lifestyle, not becoming overweight, and eating a diet that is low in animal products and high in plant foods and low-fat daily products (9).

Several studies investigated prospectively the association between **infrequent bowel movements** (every third day or less) and the use of laxatives in relation to incidence of colorectal cancer in women (10). It has been suggested that low bowel movement frequency, by increasing concentrations of carcinogens in the stool and increasing their contact with the gut wall, elevates the risk of colorectal cancer (10). No significant association was seen between laxative use and colorectal cancer risk (10). For regular laxatives users a slight but non-significant association was found for colon cancer. This association was limited to distal colon cancer. It showed a slight indication of a decreased risk for rectal cancer for all categories of laxative users (10).

As with many cancers, men and women who have a **family history** of colon cancer are at increased risk of the disease; first-degree relatives of patients with common colorectal cancer have an increased risk for colorectal cancer (4, 31, 45, 48). This risk is greater if a diagnosis was at an early age and is greater when other first-degree relatives are affected (45). Some investigators estimate the risk to be approximately twofold (4). Most studies have examined only the risk associated with having a history of colon cancer in first-degree relatives, comparing cases with individuals without such a family history (4).

It has been suggested that, in women, a **family history of breast, ovarian, and endometrial cancer** may be related to an increased risk of colon cancer (4, 51). There is an approximate 30 percent increased risk of colorectal cancer if first-degree relative had breast cancer (4, 16). Results of several studies suggest that the observed breast and colorectal cancer relationship in women may be a result of shared reproductive hormonal factors (51).

Colorectal cancer has provided fascinating insights into the genetic events involved in adult tumorigenesis (49). Family studies have suggested that there may be an inherited predisposition to many apparently sporadic colorectal cancers (49). Several studies suggest that an inherited susceptibility to colonic adenomatous polyps and colorectal cancer is common and that it is responsible for the majority of colonic neoplasms observed clinically (47, 48). The challenge for the future will involve understanding the interaction between environmental and genetic factors (49). Colorectal cancer is a disease of industrialized Western countries. There is clear evidence for the role of environmental factors in the etiology from the geographical correlation between incidence rates and the average level of fat and (inversely) the level of fiber in the diet (49). The rapid change in incidence rates for migrants moving from low to high incidence areas supports this view (49). According to Giancarlo Marra and Richard Boland (1995), hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by the occurrence within a family of multiple cases of colorectal cancer in the absence of gastrointestinal polyposis (50). The prevalence of this syndrome is not yet clear, but in may account for 1%-5% of all colorectal cancers (50).

Low intake of fruit and vegetables is estimated to cause about 19% of gastrointestinal cancer (72). The relation between **vegetable and fruit consumption** and colorectal cancer risk was comprehensively assessed in many studies. For colon cancer, no statistically significant association with total vegetable intake or total fruit intake was found (14, 62, 63, 70). However, among men and women, an inverse association was observed with vegetables and fruit combined (4, 14, 62, 63, 70). *Brassica* vegetables (the genus *Brassica* belongs to the vast family of plants, the *Brassicacea*; the most familiar is

the common cabbage - *Brassica oleracea*, with its varieties broccoli, cauliflower, kale, and Brussels sprouts - *Brassica* cruciferae) and cooked leafy vegetables showed inverse association for both men and women (14). Among women and, to a lesser extent, among men, inverse associations were stronger for distal colonic tumors than for proximal colonic tumors (14). For rectal cancer, no statistically significant associations were found for vegetable consumption or fruit consumption (14). As in other cohort studies, the observed inverse relationships between vegetable and fruit consumption and occurrence of colorectal cancer were less strong than relations reported in case-control studies (14).

There is considerable evidence that the high intake of red **meat** increases the risk of colorectal cancer among both men and women (2, 60, 65, 67, 70). Meat, protein, and fat are consistently, almost universally, positively related to risk (4, 60, 65, 67, 70). The analysis showed that the risk of having colorectal cancer increased with everyday meat use compared with not-daily meat use, with preference of heavily browned surface of fried meat compared with lightly browned (15, 60, 65, 67, 70). There is no statistically significant risk of having colorectal cancer across different types of meat as well as across preferred cooking methods for different meat types (15). Some studies have also shown a protective effect of frequent use (more that once/week) of boiled and fried sausage use on risk of colorectal cancer (15). Possible explanation of the association of meat intake with colorectal cancer risk include carcinogenic effects of fatty acids or protein metabolites as well as formation of some cancer-promoting substances during cooking (2, 4). Several studies postulated an association between frequency of food intake and risk of colon cancer (4, 60, 65, 67, 70). They reasoned that, as bile acids are secreted into the bowel with each intake of food, and as the concentration of secondary

bile acids in bile is determined, in part, by the frequency of recirculation, risk of colon cancer would rise with frequency of food consumption (4). Other authors (Martha L. Slattery, Kenneth M. Boucher et. all) support the hypothesis that overall dietary intake pattern is associated with colon cancer, and that the dietary pattern associated with the greatest increase in risk is the one which typifies a Western-style (higher body mass index and a greater intake of total energy and dietary cholesterol) diet (60, 65, 67, 70). Another study does not support a role of fresh meat and dietary fat in the etiology of colon cancer; as an exception, some processed meats may increase the risk, but the mechanisms is not yet clear (64). High consumption of seafood was associated with decreased risk of colorectal cancer in males, but increased risk in females; the reason for this discrepancy is unclear (68).

Several ecologic studies have demonstrated no significant association or inverse association between **calcium**, **vitamin D**, **and milk** intake and colorectal cancer mortality (4, 61, 66). Several studies suggests that a high intake of either cereal fiber, total fiber, calcium, and phosphorum in relation to energy intake was found to be associated with a reduced risk ratio of colorectal cancer (61, 66). Another study suggests that carotene and ascorbic acid can have a protective effect on risk of colorectal cancer, while there is no evidence of protection by other micronutrients considered, such as retinol, Vitamin D, and calcium (69).

Evidence that **female sex hormones** may play a role in the subsequent development of colorectal cancer has accumulated from time trends in colorectal cancer rates and from epidemiologic studies (36, 37). Results from several studies provide additional support for earlier suggestions that parity may have a protective effect against

the development of colorectal cancer, similar to the effect reported in the case of breast, endometrial and ovarian tumors (35, 38). These studies provide evidence in support of a protective effect of pregnancy on colon cancer risk, and more specifically a trend of increasing protection with increasing number of pregnancies (35, 38). Postmenopausal hormone use (HRT) was associated with a statistically significant reduction in colon, but not in rectum, cancer incidence (36, 37). Colon cancer is clearly on the list of conditions against which postmenopausal HRT provides useful protection (36, 37). The results of a population-based prospective study (63,000 women) in Norway suggest that reproductive factors, which are of importance in the etiology of cancer of the breast and genital organs in women, are not similarly related to risk of colorectal cancer (39).

Numerous studies have investigated the positive association between cholecystectomy and subsequent colorectal cancer (24, 25, 26). Two possible explanations for such an association have been advanced: (a) cholecystectomy alters bile acid metabolism, producing specific bile acid concentrations in the colon that may be carcinogenic: and (b) symptomatic chelelithiasis, leading to cholecystectomy, may share certain risk factors, such as obesity, with colon cancer.

Several investigations studied the risk of colorectal cancer in relation to **serum cholesterol** and beta-lipoprotein (43). These studies found a significant, direct relation between serum cholesterol levels and the incidence of rectal cancer (43). The findings from a prospective study, conducted by Abraham M.Y. Nomura, provide evidence that a low serum cholesterol level preceding the diagnosis of colon cancer in men could be a preclinical manifestation of the disease process, but it is unclear why the association may be stronger for cecum-ascending or right-sided colon cancer (44).

Most studies' results suggest that smoking is associated with colorectal cancer (13, 27, 29, 30, 31). The smoking and adenoma association has been demonstrated in several studies (13, 27, 29, 30, 31). Smoking in the prior 20 years has a strong relation to small colorectal adenomas, smoking at least 20 years in the past is related to larger adenomas, and the indication period for colorectal cancer is at least 35 years (27). The study of Polly M. Newcomb (1995) where smoking habits were ascertained by interview from Wisconsin women aged 30-74 years with newly reported diagnoses of colon (n=536) and rectal (n=243) cancer and 2315 randomly selected population controls showed that risk significantly increased with greater number of cigarettes smoked per day, longer duration of smoking, and earlier age at initiation for both the colon and the rectum; among former smokers, risk for both colon and rectal cancer remained elevated; these data suggest that women who smoke are at elevated risk of both colon and rectal cancer and that increased risk persists even among former smokers (29). Several studies showed that smoking cigarettes is not associated with colorectal cancer, while smoking cigars and pipes has been shown to be more common in cases than in controls (4). To clarify the relationship between tobacco use and risk of colorectal cancer, the study, conducted by Ellen F. Heineman (1994), evaluated a cohort of 248,046 American veterans followed prospectively for 26 years that showed a positive association between smoking and colorectal cancer (30). The possible explanation was irreversible damage due to carcinogens in cigarette smoke (13). The other data suggest that older women who smoke have a lower of colorectal cancer than non-smokers. The effect may be mediated by an antiestrogenic effect of smoking (28).

Each year over 55 000 young Europeans die from the effect of alcohol abuse: one in four deaths in European men aged 15-29 years is related to alcohol (71). The welfare, health service, insurance, enforcement and penal costs associated with drinking, and the costs resulting from loss of production, accrue to a total societal cost of 1-3% of GDP (71). The consumption of alcoholic beverages is estimated to be responsible for about 9% of the total disease burden within the European Region, increasing among others the risk of liver cirrhosis, raised blood pressure, heart disease, stroke, pancreatitis and cancers of the oropharynx, larynx, oesophagus, stomach, liver and rectum (71). Over 90% of the countries in the Region have an annual consumption per person exceeding two liters of absolute alcohol (the level suggested by the evidence as being associated with the lowest average death rate) (71). The European Region has the highest alcohol consumption in the world (71).

Various studies have tried to explore an association between **alcohol** and tobacco use and the risk of colorectal cancer. Global alcohol consumption has increased in recent decades, with most or all of this increase occurring in developing countries such as Armenia (72). Worldwide, alcohol accounts for 3.2% of deaths (1.8 million) and 4.0% of DALYs (58.3 million) (72). In developing countries with low mortality, alcohol accounts for 6.2% of disease burden measured in DALYs (72). High alcohol consumption is a probable independent risk factor for cancers of the colon and rectum (8, 55). The risk of polyps has been demonstrated to be three times higher for those who drink and smoke, and twelve times more for those drink and also smoke compared with those who did not use alcohol and did not smoke (12). It has been suggested that alcohol has an indirect

effect on colorectal cancer development (12, 31, 55). In patients with at least one carcinoma, the risk of having cancer increases with alcohol consumption (12).

The relationship between alcohol consumption and colorectal cancer in humans has been examined in 52 major studies during 35 years from 1957 to 1991 and was summed up by Gabriel A. Kune and Luis Vitetta in their report (55). An association was found in five of the seven correlational studies. An elevated risk was found in about half of the 31 case-control studies and, of these, in 9 of the 10 studies using community controls but in only 5 of the 17 studies using hospital controls (p=0.008), suggesting that the absence of association when hospital controls are used is due to a high prevalence of alcohol consumption/alcohol related illness in the hospital controls. Of the 14 cohort studies, an association with alcohol was found in 10. A positive dose-response effect was found in 2 of 3 cohort studies and in all 4 case-control studies with community controls in which this effect was examined. In both case-control and cohort studies, a positive association was found for females and males between alcohol and both colon and rectal cancer. When the type of alcohol consumed was examined separately, beer was the principal type of at-risk alcohol beverage, with much less risk for spirits and least risk for wine. Statistically significant elevations of risk were more often found in males than in females and slightly more frequently for rectal than for colon cancer and were related almost entirely to beer, rather than to wine and spirit, consumption. In addition, several studies showed an association between alcohol/beer consumption and adenomatous polyps, consistent with the hypothesis that alcohol stimulates the colorectal mucosa (55).

There is a contradiction between several studies: some showed that smoking is an independent risk factors (56), others showed that cigarette has a synergistic effect with

alcohol (57). Other authors concluded that risk for adenoma is not significantly associated with alcohol consumption after adjustment for cigarette smoking (58).

In 1957, Stocks first reported an elevated, though not statistically significant, risk of colorectal cancer among daily beer drinkers compared with abstainers (OR=1.4) (4). Subsequently, the association between alcohol and cancer of the large bowel has been explored in other studies. The frequency of consumption (i.e., none, infrequently, occasionally, or daily) also has been used to compare cases with non-cases (4). Many of ecologic studies of alcohol and colon cancer have shown a positive association (4, 5, 55). The association is similar for men and women in the studies that reported sex-specific associations, with the exception of a single study where colon cancer mortality was significantly correlated with both total alcohol and beer consumption in men, but only with beer in women (4). Geographic differences in cancer mortality have been positively correlated with beer consumption (4). Changes in per capita beer consumption from 1950-1952 to 1960-1962 have been positively correlated with changes in colon cancer mortality rates from 1960-1964 to 1970-1974 in the US, United Kingdom, Australia, and New Zealand (4). A significant, positive correlation between wine and cancer mortality rates across 41 US states has been reported (4). However, a non-significant negative correlation was found across 29 countries in the only other study that considered this association (4). Consumption of spirits across 41 US states correlated positively with colon cancer mortality rates (4).

A case-control study of both adenoma and colorectal cancer in Japan found that daily alcohol drinking was associated with an increased risk of adenoma in proximal colon (OR=1.95) (5). This study did not find an association between beer drinking and

risk of adenomas or cancer, but it did find a strong association with whiskey drinking. In a British case-control study conducted among colonoscopy patients, current drinkers in comparison with non-drinkers had three times the risk of adenoma (5). Naveau et al. (5) studied the effect of alcoholism and cirrhosis on the risk of adenoma. Alcoholics were over three times more likely to have adenomas than were nonalcoholics, controlling for cirrhosis (5). The prevalence of adenoma was over three times greater in patients with cirrhosis than in those without cirrhosis, even after controlling for alcoholism (5). Of the different types of alcoholic beverages, beer in particular has been found to be a risk factor for adenoma in a number of studies. Kikendall et al. compared subjects with adenomas (n=102) at colonoscopy with colonoscopy-negative controls (n+89) and found beer consumption to be associated with polyps (5). Drinking five or more beers per week resulted in an estimated relative risk of 2.81 (5). In a case-control study in North Carolina, Sundler et al. found alcohol to be a significant risk factor for adenomas in men (5). When patterns of alcohol consumption were analyzed, it was found that beer, rather than wine or liquor, was a risk factor for adenoma (5). In the Australian case-control study, men who drank beer were more than twice as likely to have adenomas as nondrinkers (5). In a cross-sectional survey of Japanese male "self-defense officials", total ethanol consumption was positively associated with risk of adenomatous polyps (OR=2.4) among men who consumed 60 ml of ethanol per day compared with nondrinkers (5).

Several studies have found no association between alcohol consumption and risk of adenoma. In the Health Professionals Follow -up Study, no association of alcohol intake with adenoma was found after adjustment for saturated fat and fiber intake (5). In

examining the alcohol data from the French case-control study, Riboli et al. found no association between risk of polyps with total ethanol intake or with consumption of wine or distillates (5). A Danish case-control study found no association between risk of adenoma and alcohol as a percentage of total caloric intake (5). Alcohol consumption in drink-years was not associated with adenoma in a recent study based on colonoscopy patients (5).

Many studies show a positive correlation between alcohol use and different cancers. There are several studies that investigated the joint effects of tobacco and alcohol consumption on the risk of squamous cell carcinomas of the upper aero-digestive tract using data from a hospital-based case-control study (17, 20). Another study showed the association between alcohol use and cancer death carried (18, 20). The risk of cancer death showed a similar trend, but increased more in heavy drinkers (18. 20). The authors conclude that moderate alcohol consumption was associated with the lowest risks of all-cause and cancer mortality, especially among nonsmokers (18). Also, there is a study that shows the association between alcohol consumption and increased risk of lung cancer in men; however, because of the possibility of residual confounding by smoking, this finding should be interpreted with caution (19). In the same study, intake of wine was associated with a reduced risk of lung cancer (19). This seemingly protective effect may be related to the antioxidant properties of wine and deserves further attention (19). There is also evidence of positive association between alcohol and breast cancer in women. Alcohol drinking appears unrelated to prostate cancer risk (21).

With alcohol consumption, the overall conclusion present evidence is that alcohol, particularly beer consumption, is an etiologic factor for colon and rectal cancer for both

females and males (55). Despite a very wide range of different epidemiological studies on the etiology of colorectal cancer, few have paid attention to the role of alcohol as the risk factor of the colorectal cancer and these studies have contradictory results.

#### Objectives.

The incidence of colorectal cancer in Armenia has remained high over the past decade and has demonstrated an increasing trend. At the same time, colorectal cancer etiology research has been absent in our country. The current study is designed to explore whether or not there is an association between alcohol consumption and colorectal cancer in Armenia. The *research hypothesis* is that risk of having colorectal cancer increases with increased alcohol consumption and the risk varies across different types of alcohol.

# **Subjects and Methods**

#### Research Question and Study Design.

*The research question* addressed by the study is to determine whether alcohol intake is an independent risk factor for the development of colorectal cancer, and whether any such effect depends on the type of alcoholic beverage consumed. The *research hypothesis* is that risk of having colorectal cancer increases with increased alcohol consumption and the risk varies across different types of alcohol (Ho: OR = 1 Ha: OR ? 1). *Study design and rationale for that design.* The study designed as a case-control study with one control for each case. A case-control study design was proposed in order to determine the association between alcohol consumption, its risk variation across different types of alcohol, and risk of developing colorectal cancer in both men and women in Armenia. This is an appropriate design considering the descriptive and analytical aims of

the study and also the short period of time and shortage of financing. The *target population* is the general population of Armenia. The *study population* will include one case and one control group. The patients, both men and women, from the all existing specialized proctology departments in Yerevan ("Michaelyan" Institute of Surgery, "Saint Nerses" Hospital, "Saint Grigor Lusavorich" Medical Center) served as cases who have undertaken the examinations to confirm the presence of cancer (rectoscopy/colonoscopy). Yerevan city is chosen by convenience, because MPH students can conduct the research in Yerevan, and because the specialized coloproctological departments exist only in Yerevan. The total list of potential cases included approximately 144 patients in period from May to August. Patients, being treated in the department at the time of the study, were interviewed by filling in the selfadministered questionnaires. The *control* group included patients, both men and women, seen in the same department during the same period, with diagnoses other than colorectal cancer such as hemorrhoid, perianal fistula, paraproctitis, anal fissure and others that are free of bowel disorders. The patients were from the same department of coloproctology. The reason for choosing this group of patients from the same department as the controls is that all patients are required to undergo the rectoscopy/colonoscopy according to the protocol so that we could undoubtedly mark as controls patients who do not have colorectal cancers. The main advantage for choosing these controls is that they did undergo the same diagnostic procedures as cases (rectoscopy/colonoscopy). The numbers of subjects available as cases, as well as controls, are limited. In addition, controls of the study as designed are not more available than are cases. Thus, it is proposed to conduct the study with one control for each case. The self-administered questionnaires were

distributed to all potential cases and controls. In order to minimize bias, it was decided to ask the orientation question to all controls regarding a family history of colorectal cancer. Family members and friends of cases were excluded as possible controls if they had not undertaken procedures such as rectoscopy and/or colonoscopy. After identification of their eligibility, controls were matched with cases by age (5 year interval age groups. *Study population.* 

#### Definition of cases

All patients, regardless of gender and age, who are diagnosed with colorectal cancer (proved both histologically and by rectoscopy/colonoscopy) for the first time during the pe riod from May to August, 2005 in specialized proctological departments of Michaelyan" Institute of Surgery, "Saint Nerses" Hospital, "Saint Grigor Lusavorich" Medical Center, and are residents of Armenia.

#### Definition of controls

Patients seen in the same departments of Michaelyan" Institute of Surgery, "Saint Nerses" Hospital, "Saint Grigor Lusavorich" Medical Center with diagnoses other than colorectal cancer such as hemorrhoid, perianal fistula, paraproctitis, anal fissure and others that are free of bowel disorders, who do not have family history of colorectal cancer, and are residents of Armenia, will be matched by age and gender to the cases. Exclusion criteria

Patients unwilling to participate in the study, controls that self-report bowel problems or report family history of colorectal cancer.

# Main Variables.

The presence of the colorectal cancer was considered an outcome (dependent) variable of the study. Independent variables included different alcohol consumption levels and preference of different types of alcohol. A summary of the study variables and their measurement scales are presented in the table 1 below.

Table 1. proposed research variables by name and type

Variable type/name	Туре	Measure
Outcome (dependent) Presence of colorectal cancer	Binary	Measures as 1 (cases) or 0 (control group)
<b>Hypothesized determinants (independent)</b> Drinking status	Ordinal	Measured by Likert-type as 1 – never, 2– former, 3 - current
Alcohol type preference	Nominal	Measured as vodka – yes/no, brandy – yes/no, whiskey – yes/no, beer – yes/no, wine – yes/no, liquor – yes/no
Frequency of alcohol consumption	Ordinal	Measured by Likert-type scale as 1 – daily, 2- weekly, 3 – monthly, 4 – yearly, 5 - never
Amount of alcohol used	Ordinal	Measured by Likert-type scale as 1- 1 drink a day, $2 - 2$ drinks a day, $3 - 3-5$ drinks a day, $4 - 6-9$ drinks a day, $5 - more$ than 10 drinks a day
Frequency of 5 or more drinks in the last month	Ordinal	Measured by Likert-type scale as 1 – none, 2 – once, 3 – twice, 4 – 3-5 times, 5 – 6-9 times, 6 – 10 and more times
Smoking status	Ordinal	Measured by Likert-type scale as 1 – never used tobacco, 2 – ex-cigarette smokers, 3 – current light smokers, 4 – current moderate smokers, 5 – current heavy smokers
Age	Continuous	Numerical
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Continuous	Numerical

#### Ethical Consideration.

The study was implemented after approval from the Institutional Review Board/Committee on Human Research (IRB) of the American University of Armenia. The permission of the hospital Department heads selected for participation in the study is obtained prior to the program implementation. The study involves minimal risk for the participants. Minimal risk, defined by Institutional Review Board, is a risk, where "the probability and magnitude of harm or discomfort anticipated in proposed research are not greater in and of themselves than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical, psychological examinations or tests". The slight inconvenience for the participants is time-consuming for the procedure of filling in the questionnaire. Only heavy alcohol users might felt a bit embarrassed while answering the self-administered questionnaires.

An oral consent form (is attached as Appendix) has been developed to provide all possible participants with an opportunity to analyze the information presented, to ask questions about the study and decide whether or not they want to participate in the study. The consent form includes information about who is conducting the study, the topic of the study, its purpose, procedures, participant's role in the study, risks and benefits of the study, the duration and type of participation, confidentiality, and right to withdraw at anytime they want without any penalty. It was decided to mention in the consent form all procedures regarding the issues of confidentiality and anonymity. No identifying information is included in the questionnaires. The personal information of the participants, obtained from the Departments, will be not disclosed and be destroyed immediately after the completion of the data collection process.

#### Sample size.

Sample size was calculated based on the formula offered for case-control study (calculations by STATA for different values is presented in Appendix 3):

$$n = \frac{\left\{z_{1-a/2}\sqrt{2P_2(1-P_2)} + z_{1-b}\sqrt{P_1(1-P_1) + P_2(1-P_2)}\right\}^2}{(P_1 - P_2)^2}$$
$$P_1 = \frac{(OR)P_2}{(OR)P_2 + (1-P_2)}$$

Where  $P_1$  – proportion exposed in cases,  $P_2$  – proportion exposed in controls Taking into account the values of odds ratio from previous research (1.4-3.0), the proportion of people consuming alcohol (14-22%), and power equal to 0.8, the cases and controls were calculated to include at least 117 participant each (4, 5, 7, 8, 12, 31, 55, 56, 58). Taking into account the hypothesized refusal rate of 10%, the sample size is estimated to be no less than 140.

#### Data Collection. Description of the Instrument.

The study instrument is a self-administered questionnaire (Appendix 4). For both case and control groups, the subjects filled in self-administered questionnaires on various health-related issues, including drinking and smoking habits. All participants were asked multiple-choice and open-ended questions about the average number of glasses of wine, beers, and drinks of spirits consumed per day, week, month, and year. Healthy lifestyle factors were studied by assessing smoking status, type of tobacco used, number of years of smoking, and body weight. Data on smoking habits, age and body weight were analyzed to minimize the risk of residual confounding by smoking, age, and BMI, which are the key issues. In addition to the questions of the questionnaires, the controls were asked a question about family history of colorectal cancer. Questionnaires do not contain any identification information. It was pre-tested internally among patients at "Michaelyan" Institute of Surgery and some changes were made to avoid misunderstanding. Questionnaires were distributed to participants at the departments and the oral consent forms were presented beforehand. Answering the question lasted approximately 10-15 minutes.

#### Data Analysis.

All data were analyzed using SPSS and STATA software. Data collected through self-administrated questionnaires interviews was entered into the SPSS computer software. Appropriate computations and calculations were performed for making possible further analysis. Statistical analysis included descriptive statistics made using SPSS software (frequency tables, cross-tabulations) and logistic regression analysis using STATA software. The data from SPSS were also imported into a STATA file for performing conditional logistic regression. Some additional variables were generated in the STATA file in the final analysis. The results from SPSS and STATA were compared. The purpose of the analysis is to estimate the odds ratio of colorectal cancer by considering the amount and type of alcohol consumption, while taking potential confounding into account.

The strength of association was examined using ORs and 95% confidence interval derived from the logistic regression.. All ORs were adjusted for such potentially confounding factors as age (continuous variable), body mass index (continuous variable), and smoking status (ordinal variable). All p values were based on 2-sided tests, and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

The data were collected from 144 cases and 153 controls. The refusal rate was 0.7% among cases (1 out of 145 patients refused to participate), and 1.3% among controls (2 out of 155 persons refused to participate). No questionnaire was considered as incomplete (maximum two unanswered questions in a questionnaire)

The results show that cases tended to be older than controls: the most frequent age interval in cases is 55-59 years old (32 cases), whereas in controls is 45-49 (51 cases). Moreover, there are few controls with age greater that 70 years old (6), whereas in cases there are 27 persons with age greater than 70 years. Thus, the results have shown the evidence that cases with colorectal cancer in this study are generally older than non-cancer patients (controls) (table2, graph1).

Table 2. Age distribution of cases and controls

	Gre	Total	
Age group	Control	Case	Total
40-44	14	8	22
45-49	51	22	73
50-54	24	28	52
55-59	34	32	66
60-64	17	20	37
65-69	6	8	14
70-74	1	16	17
75-79	5	9	14
80-84	-	2	2
Total	153	144	297

Graph 1. Age distribution of cases and controls



In cases, the majority of participants are male (65.3%); in this group the proportion of participants who are male is greater than proportion of participants who are

female by almost twice (94 vs. 50). In controls, the proportions of male and female participants are approximately the same (49.7% vs. 50.3%) (table 3, graph 1).

# Table 3. Gender distribution of cases and controls

			Ger	nder	
			Male	Female	Total
Group	Control	Count	76	77	153
		% within Group	49.7%	50.3%	100.0%
	Case	Count	94	50	144
		% within Group	65.3%	34.7%	100.0%
Total		Count	170	127	297
		% within Group	57.2%	42.8%	100.0%

Graph 1. Gender distribution of cases and control



The body mass index (BMI) is lower in cases than in controls which explains the oncological nature of disease; patients with any kind of cancers are more likely to lose weight then others. In cases, the median body mass index is 22, in controls –  $24.25 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (Graph 2, 3).



Graph 3. Distribution of cases and controls by BMI



According to the results, the majority of the participants started using alcohol at the age

of 15-20 (Graph 4).



Graph 4. Distribution of cases and controls by the age when they first used alcohol

Age of the participant when he/she started using alcohol

The results have shown that 13.1% of all controls and 2.1% of all cases have never used alcohol of any kind. From cases, 14.6%, 28.5 %, and 50.7% consume alcohol daily, weekly, and monthly respectively. For controls, 12.4% consume alcohol daily and 22.2 and 47.1 consume alcohol weekly and monthly respectively. The majority of cases, as well as controls, consume vodka (80.1% vs. 55.6%). Wine is consumed more frequently in controls than in cases (46.6% vs. 26.2%). Brandy is the second most common alcohol beverage consumed by both case and control groups and is almost the same proportion in both groups (50.4% vs. 54.1%). The amount of alcohol consumed varies among cases and controls; 6-9 and 10+ more drinks (in a day when participants consume alcohol) occurs more often in cases than in controls (12.8% and 13.5% vs. 4.5% and 1.5%).

Results for conditional logistic regression controlling for multiple different

variables and corresponding 95% Confidence Interval (CI) as well as the total number of

responses for each item are summarized in the table 4 below:

Alaahal itam	Numbe	r (%) of	OR (95%CI)
Alconol item	Cases	Controls	
Alcohol frequency			
daily	21 (14.6)	19 (12.4)	7.37 (1.89 - 28.79) <sup>1</sup>
weekly	41 (28.5)	34 (22.2)	8.04 (2.20 - 29.38)
monthly	73 (50.7)	72 (47.1)	6.76 (1.92 - 23.74) <sup>1</sup>
yearly	6 (4.2)	8 (5.2)	5.00 (1.00-25.02)
never	3 (2.1)	20 (13.1)	1.002
	144 (100)	153 (100)	
Alcohol preferred			
Vodka	113 (80.1)	74 (55.6)	$3.22(1.88-5.50)^{1}$
Brandy	71 (50.4)	72 (54.1)	0.37 (0.13-1.08)
Whiskey	5 (3.5)	12 (9.0)	0.86 (0.53-1.38)
Beer	27 (19.1)	22 (16.5)	1.19 (0.64-2.22)
Wine	37 (26.2)	62 (46.6)	$0.40(0.25-0.68)^{1}$
Liquor	11 (7.8)	19 (14.3)	0.50 (0.23-1.11)
Amount of alcohol			
preferred (quantity)			
1 drink	20 (14.2)	29 (21.8)	1.00
2 drinks	46 (32.6)	47 (35.3)	1.42 (0.70-2.86)
3-5 drinks	38 (27.0)	49 (36.8)	1.12 (0.55-2.29)
6-9 drinks	18 (12.8)	6 (4.5)	4.35 (1.47 - 12.88)
10+ drinks	19 (13.5)	2(1.5)	13.78 (2.88-65.84)
	141 (100)	133 (100)	
Daily			
1-2 drinks	11 (52.3)	13 (68.4)	1.00
3+ drinks	10 (47.7)	6 (31.6)	1.17 (0.74-1.84)
	21 (100)	19 (100)	
Weekly			
1-2 drinks	4 (9.8)	11 (32.3)	1.00
3+ drinks	37 (90.2)	23 (67.7)	1.17 (0.74-1.84)
	41 (100)	34 (100)	
Monthly			
1-2 drinks	45 (61.6)	46 (63.9)	1.00
3+ drinks	28 (38.4)	26 (36.1)	1.17 (0.74-1.84)
	73 (100)	72 (100)	

# Table 4. Unadjusted ORs and 95% CIs for colorectal cancer by frequency of alcohol consumption, alcohol type preferred, and amount of alcohol preferred

28

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Yearly			
1-2 drinks	6 (100.0)	6 (75.0)	1.00
3+ drinks	-	2 (25.0)	1.17 (0.74-1.84)
	6 (100)	8 (100)	
Daily			*
Vodka	18	14	
Brandy	1	-	
Whiskey	6	12	
Beer	4	4	
Wine	2	1	
Liquor	0	2	
Weekly			*
Vodka	35	27	
Brandy	2	8	
Whiskey	28	19	
Beer	19	13	
Wine	8	9	
Liquor	2	3	
Monthly			*
Vodka	57	28	
Brandy	2	4	
Whiskey	34	38	
Beer	3	4	
Wine	25	48	
Liquor	9	13	
Ever drink alone	83 (57.6)	35 (22.9)	$4.59 (2.78 - 2.58)^1$
Usage of alcohol in			
participants' family	37 (25 7)	5(33)	10 24 (2 80 26 0)
during the growing	57 (25.7)	5 (5.5)	10.24 (3.89-20.9)
up(childhood)			

<sup>1</sup> Statistically significant variables (p<0.05)

<sup>2</sup> Reference group

\* For these variables the data were insufficient to obtain interpretable results for conditional logistic regression

According to the results of simple conditional logistic regression, statistically

significant increases of risk of colorectal cancer were estimated for some variables. The

risk of having colorectal cancer increases with daily, weekly, and monthly alcohol

consumption (OR=7.37 with 95% Confidence Interval 1.89-28.79 and p-value 0.004,

OR= 8.04 with 95%CI 2.20-29.38 and p-value 0.002, and OR=6.76 with 95%CI 1.92-23.74 and p-value 0.003 respectively). There was a statistically significant association between preference of vodka and the risk of developing colorectal cancer (OR=3.22; 95% CI 1.88-5.50; p-value 0.000). The association also was estimated between amount of alcohol preference and colorectal cancer. The risk of having colorectal cancer increases with amount of 6-9 and 10+ drinks of alcohol consumption (OR=4.35; 95% CI 1.47-12.88; p-value 0.008 and OR=13.78; 95% CI 2.88-65.84; p-value 0.001 respectively). In addition, a statistically significant effect was observed between preference of alcohol consumption alone, without company, and the risk of developing colorectal cancer (OR=4.59; 95% CI 2.78-2.58; p-value 0.000) and usage of alcohol in participants' family during upbringing (childhood) and the risk of having colorectal cancer (OR=10.24; 95% CI 3.89-26.9; p-value 0.000).

The results of simple conditional logistic regression also demonstrated a protective effect of wine consumption and the risk of developing colorectal cancer (OR=0.40; 95% CI 0.25-0.68; p-value 0.001).

There was no statistically significant effect of yearly alcohol consumption on the development of colorectal cancer (OR=5.00; 95% CI 1.00-25.02; p-value 0.05). There were also no statistically significant associations between the alcohol type preferred, other than vodka and wine (brandy: OR=0.37; 95% CI 0.13-1.08; p-value 0.07; whiskey: OR=0.86; 95% CI 0.53-1.38; p-value 0.531; beer: OR=1.19; 95% CI 0.64-2.22; p-value 0.574; liquor: OR=0.50; 95% CI 0.23-1.11; p-value 0.09) and colorectal cancer. Similar non-significant results were obtained for amount of alcohol preferred as 2 drinks and 3-5 drinks (OR=1.42; 95% CI 0.70-2.86; p-value 0.327; and OR=1.12; 95% CI 0.55-2.29; p-

value 0.746 respectively). The OR's of the four alcohol items (daily 1-2, 3+ drinks, weekly 1-2, 3+ drinks, monthly1-2, 3+ drinks, and yearly 1-2, 3+ drinks) are the same (OR=1.17; 95% CI 0.74-1.84; p-value 0.51) and it is not surprisingly because they represent the same variable but on different measurement scales. The interpretation is not that daily usage of 3+ alcohol is the same as monthly usage of 3+ alcohol, but rather, that the comparison of 3+ versus 1-2 drinks is the same, whether participants express it as daily, weekly, monthly or yearly consumption. The data were insufficient to obtain interpretable results from conditional logistic regression for preference of alcohol type (vodka, brandy, whiskey, beer, wine, and liquor) for the frequency of alcohol used (daily, weekly, monthly, and yearly).

Possible interactions between different statistically significant risk factors were examined. No association between them was revealed. All variables with statistically significant associations (p < 0.05) were included in different multiple logistic regression models. Models were tested by Log Likelihood Ratio test to determine the best fitting model. Characteristics of different tested models are summarized in the table below. *Table 7. Results of Log Likelihood Ratio test for different multiple logistic regression models:* 

	Variable name	OR	SE	Z	P(z)	95%CI	Llog
							likelihood
							test
M1	Vodka as alcohol type	3.22	0.88	4.27	0.000	1.88-5.50	Chi <sup>2</sup> 19.25
	preferred						p 0.0000
M2	Vodka as alcohol type	3.27	0.92	4.22	0.000	1.89-5.67	Chi <sup>2</sup> 19.33
	preferred						p 0.0001
	Frequency of alcohol use	1.04	0.17	0.27	0.79	0.76-1.43	(compared
							Model 1)
M3	Vodka as alcohol type	2.39	0.68	3.08	0.002	1.37-4.16	Chi <sup>2</sup> 39.66
	preferred						p 0.0000
	Usage of alcohol in	6.86	3.45	3.83	0.000	2.56-18.40	(com pared
	participants' family during						with Model 1)
	the growing up (childhood)						
M4	Vodka as alcohol type	2.08	0.62	2.45	0.014	1.16-3.72	Chi <sup>2</sup> 36.31
	preferred						p 0.0000
	Ever drink alone	3.12	0.87	4.07	0.000	1.80-5.38	(compared

							with Model 1)
M5	Vodka as alcohol type	2 69	0.76	3 51	0.000	1 55-4 68	Chi <sup>2</sup> 27 00
1.10	preferred	2.07	0170	0.01	0.000	100 100	p 0.0000
	Amount of alcohol preferred	1.39	0.17	2.72	0.007	1.10-1.77	(compared with Model 1)
M6	Vodka as alcohol type	1.72	0.52	1.79	0.074	0.95-3.11	Chi <sup>2</sup> 50.81
	preferred						p 0.0000
	Usage of alcohol in participants' family during the growing up(childhood)	5.51	2.83	3.34	0.001	2.02-15.06	(compared with Model 3, 4)
	Ever drink alone	2.60	0.75	3.32	0.001	1.48-4.58	
M7	Vodka as alcohol type preferred	2.05	0.60	2.47	0.014	1.16-3.64	Chi <sup>2</sup> 45.39 p 0.0000
	Usage of alcohol in participants' family during the growing up(childhood)	6.45	3.27	3.68	0.000	2.39-17.44	(compared with Model 3, 5)
	Amount of alcohol preferred	1.36	0.18	2.35	0.019	1.05-1.76	
M8	Vodka as alcohol type preferred	2.33	0.68	2.90	0.004	1.32-4.13	Chi <sup>2</sup> 39.79 p 0.0000
	Frequency of alcohol use	0.94	0.15	-0.36	0.715	0.68-1.30	(compared
	Usage of alcohol in participants' family during the growing up(childhood)	7.00	3.54	3.85	0.000	2.60-18.88	with Model 2,3)
M9	Vodka as alcohol type	1.93	0.58	2.18	0.029	1.07-3.47	Chi <sup>2</sup> 39.52
	preferred						p 0.0000
	Ever drink alone	2.74	0.79	3.51	0.000	1.56-4.83	(compared
	Amount of alcohol preferred	1.25	0.16	1.78	0.076	0.98-1.61	with Model 4, 5)
	Ĩ						
M10	Vodka as alcohol type preferred	2.77	0.80	3.54	0.000	1.58-4.87	Chi <sup>2</sup> 27.27 p 0.0000
	Amount of alcohol preferred	1.40	0.17	2.75	0.006	1.10-1.78	(compared with
N/11	Frequency of alcohol use	1.09	0.18	0.52	0.604	0.79-1.50	Model 2,5)
MII	vodka as alconol type	2.00	0.01	2.42	0.016	1.15-3.69	Cni 45.39
	Amount of alcohol	1.36	0.18	2.32	0.020	1.05-1.76	(compared
	preferred	1.50	0.10	2.52	0.020	1.05-1.70	with
	Frequency of alcohol use	1.00	0.17	0.02	0.984	0.72-1.40	Model 7,8,10)
	Usage of alcohol in	6.45	3.28	3.66	0.000	2.38-17.48	
	participants' family during						
M12	the growing up(childhood)	1.00	0.51	1.65	0.100	0.01.2.04	$C1^{2} = 50.41$
M12	preferred	1.66	0.51	1.65	0.100	0.91-3.04	p 0.0000
	Frequency of alcohol use	1.41	0.28	1.70	0.088	0.95-2.09	(compared
	Amount of alconol preferred	1.20	0.17	1.0/	0.095	0.96-1.65	with Model
	Ever drink alone Usage of alcohol in	5.18 4.86	1.13	3.20 3.02	0.001	1.39-0.39	0,7,8,9,10)
	participants' family during	00	2.54	5.02	0.005	1.77-13.34	
	the growing up(childhood)						

Based on the results of likelihood ratio test, the best fitting (parsimonious) model includes variables of vodka as alcohol type preferred, amount of alcohol preferred, frequency of alcohol use, and usage of alcohol in participants' family during the growing up(childhood). The model was tested with goodness-of-fit test to compare with saturated model. There was no significant difference between the selected model and the saturated model (Hosmel-Lemeshow  $chi^2 = 0.00$ ; Prob>chi^2=0.9837), which supports the choice of the selected model is the best fitting model. According to the model, preference of vodka as the type of alcohol increases the risk of having colorectal cancer after controlling for other variables (OR=2.06; 95%CI 1.15-3.69 p-value 0.016) compared with non-drinkers. The risk of having colorectal cancer also increases with amount of 3+ drinks of alcohol consumption versus 1-2 drinks after controlling for other variables (OR=1.36; 95%CI 1.05-1.76; p-value 0.02). According to the model, there is no statistically significant association between colorectal cancer and the frequency of alcohol use (OR=1.00; 95%CI 0.72-1.40; p-value 0.98). In addition, usage of alcohol in participants' family during the growing up (childhood) significantly increases the risk of developing colorectal cancer (OR=6.45; 95%CI 1.74-13.54; p-value 0.000). There is no confounding effect of smoking and BMI (OR=0.97; 95% CI 0.83-1.14; p-value 0.71). There is a potential confounding effect of age (OR=1.06; 95% CI 1.04-1.09; p-value 0.000).

#### **Discussion and recommendations**

The main findings demonstrated by the study were statistically significant associations between consumption of vodka as alcohol preferred, amount of 3+ drinks of alcohol used, and usage of alcohol in participants' family during childhood, and the risk

of developing colorectal cancer. Based on conditional logistic regression analyses, wine has a protective effect against developing colorectal cancer. This finding of the current study regarding the negative association of positive and cancer was consistent with previous reports from other studies that examined the relationship between different type of alcohol beverages and colorectal cancer (55). A significant, positive correlation between wine and cancer mortality rates across 41 US states has been reported (4). However, a non-significant negative correlation of wine and colorectal cancer was found across 29 countries in the only other study that considered this assoc iation (4). This contradictory finding might be explained by geographic differences in cancer mortality.

The results of the previous study indicated higher risk of total ethanol consumption associated with risk of adenomatous polyps (OR=2.4) (5). The result of the current study also indicated higher colorectal cancer risk with preference of vodka as alcohol beverage used (OR=2.06).

Previous researches reported the association between amount of 60 ml of alcohol per day and the risk of colorectal cancer (5) compared with non-drinkers, whereas this cases-control study shows no association between frequency of alcohol and colorectal cancer but is consistent with amount of alcohol (3+ drinks is more then 60 ml of ethanol).

The findings of the current study regarding an elevated, but not statistically significant (OR=1.19, 95%CI 0.64-2.22), risk of colorectal cancer among beer drinkers compared with non-drinkers are consistent with Stock's results (OR=1.4) in 1957 who first reported that association (4). Subseque ntly, other studies showed that beer is a significant risk factor for developing colorectal cancer (5).

Some studies showed that smoking is independent risk factors (56); others showed that cigarette smoking has a synergistic effect with alcohol (57). Other authors, as the current study, showed that risk for developing colorectal cancer is not significantly associated with alcohol consumption after adjustment for cigarette smoking (58).

The majority of the study limitations were the result of lack of time and resources. The most serious limitation was that proportion of women and men in controls were almost the same (50% - 50%) whereas in cases women were 35% and men in majority. Women tend to drink less alcohol compared with men which might have exaggerated the true relationship between alcohol consumption and developing of colorectal cancer.

The next limitation dealt with questions in the study instrument referring to 5-year period. The latency period of any cancer is longer than 5 year which means that etiology of the colorectal cancer requires long period for the development of the disease. With respect to this issue, it would be better to recall the habits of the participants regarding alcohol consumption for the past 10-15 year period. On the other hand, it could result in heightened recall bias. Another limitation is that the reliability and validity of the instrument were not determined.

One of the potential limitations of the study was avoided by excluding people with a family history of colorectal cancer from controls (in the current study 3 persons reported the family history of colorectal cancer). During the analysis controls who were younger then the youngest case were excluded as well as controls who were older then oldest cases. In departments of coloproctology many patients with diseases other then colorectal cancer were too young or too old, and it was decided to exclude them from controls.

The main strength of the study is that controls did undergo the same diagnostic procedures as cases (rectoscopy/colonoscopy). Thus, there was complete absence of misclassification in current study.

The results of conditional logistic regression were not interpretable for some variables, which could be explained by the absence, or very small number of observations for a particular item and certain group (cases and controls). This could be explained as the result of small sample size. It is recommended to increase the sample size in future studies. One acceptable way of increasing the sample size is to recruit patients with colorectal cancer from other health care facilities.

This study demonstrated evidence of a need for educational programs regarding the alcohol consumption to make the information available for the public. Based on the results of this study, the public educational program should recommend avoiding use of vodka as alcohol type preferred, shifting from amount of 3+ drinks to less amount of alcohol (1-2 drinks), and also should make people understand and get them acquainted with the result that alcohol use in the childhood atmosphere significantly increases the risk of developing colorectal cancer. It could be possible to organize separate educational program for health care professionals, especially family physicians, as well as for residents at the departments of Oncology and Coloproctology at National Institute of Health and also at departments of clinical Oncology, Surgeon, and Internal Medicine of Yerevan State Medical University.

However, the results of this study's analysis demonstrated the need for further and comprehensive investigations taking into account the listed limitations. Further, the protective effect of frequent use of wine on subsequent development of colorectal cancer

need to be confirmed by additional research, since the results conflicted with that of a previous study. Additional information is needed to make conclusions regarding the variables that did not demonstrate interpretable results during the analysis. The results of a comprehensive research may serve as a basis for decision-making and implementation of nation-wide prevention programs in the future.

# **References:**

- Enfendjyan A, Aghavelyan A, Sargsyan N, Aghavelyan M. Colorectal Cancer in Population of Armenia. Materials of third Congress of Ongologists of Caucasian Couintriesal, September 22-24 2004; 267-68, Yerevan, Armenia
- Harvard Report on Cancer Prevention. Cancer Causes and Control, 1999, 10; 167-180
- 3. Number of Deaths and Death rates. [on-line] [cited 2002 Apr 6]; Available from: <a href="http://www.who.int/whosis">http://www.who.int/whosis</a>
- John D. Potter, Martha L. Slattery, Robert M. Bostick, and Susan M. Gapstur. Colon Cancer: A Review of the Epidemiology. Journal of Epidemiologic Reviews, 1993; 15(2): 499-545
- Lucy A. Peipins and Robert S. Sandler. Epidemiology of Colorectal Adenomas. Journal of Epidemiologic Reviews, 1994; 16(2): 273-297
- Detailed Guide: Colon and Rectum Cancer. What Are the Key Statistics for Colorectal Cancer? American Cancer Society. [on-line] [cited 2004 Sept 20]; Available from: URL: http://www.cancer.org/docroot/CRI/content/CRI\_2\_4\_1Xwhar\_are\_the\_key\_statistics\_for\_colon\_and\_rectum\_cancer.asp?rnav=cri
- Earl S. Ford. Body Mass Index and Colon Cancer in a National Sample of Adult US Men and Women. American Journal of Epidemiology, August 15, 1999; 150(4): 390-398
- Terrel K. Murphy, Eugenia E. Calle, Carmen Rodriguez, Henry S. Kahr, and Michael J. Thun. Body Mass Index and Colon Cancer Mortality in a Large Prospective Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, November 1, 2000; 152(9): 847-854
- 9. Martha L. Slattery, Sandra L. Edwards, Kenneth M. Boucher, Kristin Anderson, and Bette J. Caan. Lifestyle and Colon Cancer: An Assessment of Factors

Associated with Risk. American Journal of Epidemiology, October 15, 1999; 150(8): 869-877

- Laurent Dukas, Walter C. Willett, Graham A. Colditz, Charles S. Fuchs, Bernard Rosner, and Edward L. Giovannucci. Prospective Study of Bowel Movement, Laxative Use, and Risk of Colorectal Cancer among Women. American Journal of Epidemiology, May 15, 2000; 151(10):958-964
- Kornfeld D, Ekbom A. Ihre T. Is there an Excess Risk for Colorectal Cancer in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis and Concomitant Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis? A Population Based Study. GUT, Oct 1997; 41:522-525
- Bardou M, Montembault S, Giraud V, Balian A, Borotto E, Houdayer C, et all. Excessive Alcohol Consumption Favors High Risk Polyp or Colorectal Cancer Occurrence among Patients with Adenomas: a Case-Control Study, GUD, Jan 2002; 50:38-42
- Giovannucci E. An Updated Review of the Epidemiological Evidence that Cigarette Smoking Increases Risk of Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev., Jul 2001; 10:725731
- 14. L. Voorips, R Goldbohm, G van Poppel, F Sturmans, R. Hermus, and P. A. van den Brandt. Vegetable and Fruit Consumption and Risk of Colon and Rectal Cancer in a Prospective Cohort Study. American Journal of Epidemiology, December 1, 2000; 152(11):1081-1092
- 15. Yaghjyan L, Armenian H, Soghikian K. Meat, Cooking Methods and Risk of Colorectal Cancer: a Case-Control Study in Armenia. Master of Public Health Thesis Project Utilizing Professional Publication Framework. American University of Armenia, October 2003, Armenia.
- Andrieu N, Clavel F, Auguier A, et al. Association Between Breast Cancer and Family Malignancies. Eur J Cancer1991; 27:224-228

- Nicolas F. Schlecht, Eduardo J. Franco, Javier Pintos, Abdissa Negassa ,et al. Interaction Between Tobacco and Alcohol Consumption and the Risk of Cancers of the Upper Aero-Digestive Tract in Brazil. American Journal of Epidemiology, December 1, 1999; 150(11):1129-1137
- Shoichiro Tsugane, Michael T. Fahey, Satoshi Sasaki, and Sgunroku Baba, for the JPHC Study Group. American Journal of Epidemiology, December 1, 1999; 150(11):1201-1207
- Eva Prescott, Morten Gronbak, Ulrik Becker, and Thorkild I. A. Sorensen. American Journal of Epidemiology, December 1, 1999; 150(11):463-470
- William J. Blot. Invited Commentary: More Evidence of Increased Risks of Cancer among Alcohol Drinkers. American Journal of Epidemiology, December 1, 1999; 150(11):11381140
- 21. Crispo, A. et al. Alcohol and the risk of prostate cancer and benign prostatic hyperplasia. Urology .64.4 (2004): 717-22.
- 22. Fyodorov V, Vorobyov G. Proctology. Educational Supply. 1990; 65-66, Moscow
- 23. Aghavelyan A, Abramyan A, Shakhnazaryan K, Enfendjyan A. "Catastrofic" Statistical Data of Colorectal Cancer of Population of Armenia. Materials of 4-th Proctological Scientific Conference with International Participation, September 6-7 2001; 96-98, Minsk
- Neugut, A.I., Murray, T.I., Garbowski, G.C., Forde, K.A., Treat, M.R., Waye, J.D., and Fenoglio-Preiser, C. Cholecystectomy as a risk factor for colorectal adenomatous polyps and carcinoma. *Cancer (Phila.)* 1991; 68: 1644-1647
- 25. Gary D. Friedman, Marilyn K. Goldhaber, Charles P. Quesenberry, Jr. Cholecystectomy and large bowel cancer. *The Lancet*, April 18, 1987: 906-908
- 26. Alexandra R. Goldbohm, Piet A. Van Den Braumd, Pieter Van't Veer, et al. Cholecystectomy and colorectal cancer: evidence from a cohort study on diet and cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 1993; 53: 735-739

- Edward Giovannicci, Eric B. Rimm, Meir J. Stampfer et al. A prospective Study of Cigarette Smoking and Risk of Colorectal Adenoma and Colorectal Cancer in U.S. Men. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1994; 86: 183-191
- Robert S. Sandler, Dale P. Sandler, George W. Comstock, Knud J. Helsing, David L. Shore. Cigarette Smoking and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer in Women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1988; 80: October 19
- Polly A. Newcomb, Barry E. Storer, and Pamela M. Marcus. Cigarette Smoking in Relation to Risk of Large Bowel Cancer in Women. *Cancer Research* 1995; 55: 4906-4909
- Ellen F. Heineman, Shelia Hoar Zahm, Joseph K. McLaughlin and Jimmie B. Vaught. Increased Risk of Colorectal Cancer Among Smokers: results of a 26-year follow-up of us veterans and a review. *Int. J. Cancer* 1994; 59: 728-738
- Alfred I. Neugut, Judith S. Jacobson, and Immaculata DeVivo. Epidemiology of Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention 1993; 2: 159-176
- 32. Thune I. and Lund E. Physical activity and risk of colorectal cancer in men and women. *British Journal of Cancer* 1996; 73: 1134-1140
- Mats Fredriksson, Nils -Olof Bengtsson, Lennart Hardell and Olav Axelson. Colon Cancer, Physical Activity, and Occupational Exposures: A Case-Control Study. *Reprinted from Cancer* 1989; 63: May 1
- 34. Steven Markowitz, Alfredo Morabia, Karen Garibaldi and Ernst Wynder. Effect of Occupational and Recreational Activity on the Risk of Colorectal Cabcer among Males: A Case-Control Study. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1992; 21: 1057-1062
- F.G. Davis, S.E. Furner, V. Persky and M. Koch. The Influence of Parity and Exogenous Hormones on the Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 1989; 43: 587-590

- Polly A. Newcomb, Barry E. Storer. Postmenopausal Hormone Use and Risk of Large -Bowel Cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1995; 87: 1067-1071
- John D. Potter. Hormones and Colon Cancer. *Journal of National Cancer Institute* 1995; 87:1039-1040
- R.K. Peters, M.C. Pike, W.W.L. Chang and T.M. Mack. Reproductive Factors and Colon Cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 1990; 61: 741-748
- Gunnar Kvale and Ivar Heuch. Is the Incidence of Colorectal Cancer Related to Reproduction? A Prospective Study of 63,000 Women. Int. J. Cancer 1991; 47: 390-395
- Edward Giovannucci, Eric B. Rimm, Meir J. Stampfer et al. Aspirin Use and the Risk for Colorectal Cancer and Adenoma in Male Health Professionals. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1994; 121: 241-246
- Michael J. Thun, Mohan M. Namboodiri and Clark W. Heath. Aspirin Use and Reduced Risk of Fatal Colon Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1991; 325: 1593-1596
- Brad D. Simons, Alan S. Morrison, Robert Lev and Wendy Verhoek-Oftedahl. Relationship of Polyps to Cancer of the Large Intestine. J. Natl Cancer Inst 1992; 84: 962-966
- Sven A. Tornberg, Lars-Eric Holm, John M. Carstensen and Gunnar A. Eklund. Risk of Cancer of the Colon and Rectum in Relation to Serum Cholesterol and Beta-Lipoprotein. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1986; 315:1620-1633
- Abraham M.Y. Nomura, Grant N. Stemmermann, Po-Huang Chyou. Prospective Study of Serum Cholesterol Leve ls and Large -Bowel Cancer. *J. Natl Cancer Inst* 1991; 83:1403-1407
- D. James B., Francis T. MvDermott, John L. Hopper, Elizabeth A. Denbey, William R. Johnson and Sir Edward S.R. Hughes. Cancer Risk in Relatives of

Patients with Common Colorectal Cancer. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1993; 118:785-790

- 46. Charles S. Fughs, Edward L. Giovannicci, Graham A. Colditz, David J. Hunter, Frank E. Speizer and Walter C. Willett A prospective Study of Family History and the Risk of Colorectal Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1994; 331:1669-1674
- 47. Lisa A. Cannon-Albright, Mark H. Skolnick, Timothy Bishop, Randall G. Lee and Randall W. Burt. Common Inheritance of Susceptibility to Colonic Adenomatous Polyps and Associated Colorectal Cancers: *New England Journal of Medicine* 1988; 319: 533-537
- D. Timothy Bishop, Randall W. Burt. Genetic Epidemiology and Molecular Genetics of Colorectal Adenomas and Cancer. *Frontiers in Gastrointestinal Research*. Basel, Karger, 1991; 18: 99-114
- 49. Timothy Bishop Huw Thomas. The Genetics of Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Survey* 1990; 9: 585-604
- Giancarlo Marra, C. Richard Boland. Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer: the Syndrome, the Genes, and Historical Perspectives. *Journal of the national Cancer Institute* 1995; 87; 1114-1125
- Alfred I. Neugut, Todd I. Murray, Won Chul Lee and Eliezer Robinson. The association of Breast Cancer and Colorectal Cancer in Men. *Cancer* 1991; 68: 2069-2073
- Guido Biasco, Giovanni Brandi, Gian Maria Paganelli et al. Colorectal Cancer in Patients with Ulcerative Colitis : A Prospective Cohort Study in Italy. *Cancer* 1995; 75: 2045-2050
- 53. Gillen C.D., Andrews H.A., Prior P., Allan R.N. Crohn's disease and colorectal cancer. *Gut* 1994; 35: 651-655

- S4. Rhodes J.M. Unifying Hypothesis for Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Associated Colon Cancer: Sticking the Pieces Together with Sugar. *Lancet* 1996; 347: 40-44
- 55. Gabriel A. Kune and Luis Vitetta. Alcohol consumption and the Etiology of Colorectal Cancer: A Review of the Scientific Evidence from 1957 to 1991. *Nutr Cancer* 1992; 18: 91-111
- Kikendall, J. W., Bowen, P.E. et all. Cigarettes and alcohol as independent risk factors for colonic adenomas. *Gastroenterology*, 97: 660-664, 1989
- 57. Cope, G.F., Wyatt, J.L. et all. Alcohol Consumption in Patients with Colorectal Adenomatous Polyps. *Gut*, 32: 70-72, 1991
- Lee, W.C., Neugut, A.L., Garbowski, G.C., Forde, K.A., Treat, M.R., Waye, J.D., and Fenoglio-Preiser. Cigarettes, alcohol, coffee and caffeine as risk factors for colorectal adenomatous polyps. Ann. Epidemiol., in press, 1993
- Kune, G.A., Kune, S., Vitetta, I., and Watson, L.F. Smoking and Colorectal Cancer Risk: Data from the Melbourne Colorectal Cancer study and Brief Review of Literature. *Int. J. Cancer* 1992; 50: 369-372
- Maria Gerhardsson de Verdier, Ulla Hagman, Ruth K. Peters, Gunnar Steineck and Eva Overvik. Meat, Cooking Methods and Colorectal Cancer: A Case-Referent Study in Stockholm. *Int. J. Cancer* 1991; 49: 520-525
- Gunnar Arbman, Olav Axelson, Ann-Britt Ericsson-Begodzki, Mats Fredriksson, Erik Nilsson, and Rune Sjodahl. Cereal Fiber, Calcium, and Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer* 1992; 69: 2042-2048
- Kristi A. Sreinmetz and John D. Potter. Food-Group Consumption and Colon Cancer in the Adelaide Case-Control Study. I. Vegetables and Fruit. *Int. J. Cancer* 1993; 53: 711-719
- 63. Geoffrey R. Howe, Enrique Benito, Roberto Casteletto et. All. Diatery Intake of Fiber and Decreased Risk of Cancers of the Colon and Rectum: Evidence from the

Combined Analysis of 13 Case-Control Studies. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1992; 84: 1887-1895

- 64. Alexandra R. Goldbohm, Piet A. van den Brandt, Pieter van 't Veer et all. A prospective Cohort Study on the Relation between Meat Consumption and the Risk of Colon Cancer. *Cancer Research* 1994; 54: 718-723
- Martha L. Slattery, Kenneth M. Boucher, Bette J. Caan, John D. Potter, and Khe-In Ma. Eating Patterns and Risk of Colon Cancer. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1998; 148: 4-16
- Harold L. Newmark and Martin Lipkin. Calcium, Vitamin D, and Colon Cancer. Cancer Research 1992; 52: 2067-2070
- Benito E., Stiggelbout A., Bosch F.X., Orbador A., et all. Nutritional Factors on Colorectal Cancer Risk: A Case-Control Study in Majorka. *Int. J. Cancer* 1991; 49: 161-167
- Kristi A. Steinmetz and John D. Potter. Food-Group Consumption and Colon Cancer in the Adelaide Case-Control Study. II. Meat, Poultry, Seafood, Dairy Foods and Eggs. *Int. J. Cancer* 1993; 53: 720-727
- Ferrarroni M., C. La Vecchia, B.D'Avanzo, E. Negri, S. Franceschi and A. Decarli. Selected Micronutrient intake and the risk of colorectal cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 1994; 70: 1150-1155
- David Zaridze, Vladimir Filipchenko, Valeriy Kustov, Vitaliy Serdyuk and Stephen Duffy. Diet and Colorectal Cancer: Results of Two Case-Control Stidies in Russia. *Eur. J. Cancer* 1993; 29A: 112-115
- The European health report 2002. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2002
- 72. World Health Organization. *Reducing Risks, promoting healthy life*. Geneva: The World Health Report; 2002

# List of Potential Journals for Publication

- 1. Cancer Epidemiology
- 2. British Journal of Cancer
- 3. Cancer Causes and Controls
- 4. International Journal of Cancer

# **APPENDIXES**

#### **APPENDIX 1. English version of Study Consent Form**

American University of Armenia College of Health Sciences Master of Public Health Program CONSENT FORM

#### **Title of Research Project:**

Alcohol Consumption and Colorectal Cancer: A Case-Control Study in Armenia **Explanation of Research Project:** 

Hello, my name is Narek Sargsyan and I am a second year student of MPH program at the American University of Armenia and, also I am a research fellow in Department of Coloproctology at the National Institute of Health of the Ministry of Health. As a part of my course requirement at the American University of Armenia, Public Health department is conducting a study. The purpose of the study is to determine the association between alcohol consumption and colorectal cancer among both men and women in general population in Armenia. The study design for the research includes the interviews using the questionnaire on alcohol use. You will not undergo any examinations and procedures in future. The interview will take place only once and will last about 5-10 minutes. The time and the location of the interviews will be selected to be convenient for you. The information collected from you on alcohol use is needed in order to conduct the valuable research. Inclusion criteria are the following: The patients of the department of coloproctology regardless of age old that passed the rectoscopy or colonoscopy examinations. Exclusion criteria are the following: 1. Patients unwilling to participate in the study 2. Patients who report family history of colorectal cancer 3. Patients that are not residents of Armenia

#### **Risk/Benefit:**

The study does not involve any kind of risks. Only slight discomfort you may feel by sharing with us about your alcohol consumption experience.

You will not receive any incentives, financial or other benefit directly for the participation in the study. The information obtained from you will help us (investigators) to find out whether or not there is an association between alcohol consumption and colorectal cancer so that the results of the research will result in some suggested and recommended actions to increase awareness about association between alcohol consumption and colorectal cancer, and thus decrease the incidence of colorectal cancer in Armenia.

#### **Confidentiality:**

Interviews will be conducted anonymously without recoding your name, address, or telephone number and also, the questionnaires do not include these items. All such kind of identifying information of you will be kept confidential.

# **Right to refuse participation:**

You have the right to stop the interview at any time you want. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. Your refusal to participate in the study or your decision to withdraw from the study at any time is on your on decision. Whether or not you are in the study will not affect your job.

#### **Identification of researchers:**

The access to the data will have only a student investigator (*Narek Sarkissian*, 2<sup>nd</sup> year student of MPH program at the AUA, phone: +3741-266014 and +3749 413754, e-male: nareks1@hotmail.com) and, if necessary, principal and co-investigators (professor *Marie Diener-West*, phone: 410-502-6894, e-male: mdiener@jhsph.edu and *B.Grace Sullivan*, ARPN, PhD, Assistant Professor, AUA, room 47, phone: +3741 512570, e-male: sullivan@aua.am). All data obtained from you will be destroyed when research will be done in the end of summer.

If you have any questions regarding the study, please do not hesitate to contact the investigators in charge of the study: *Narek Sarkissian, Professor Marie Diener-West, Professor Grace Sullivan.* 

If you want to talk to anyone about the research study because you feel you have not been treated fairly or think you have been hurt by joining the study you should contact the American University of Armenia at (3741) 51 25 92 and ask *Dr. Michael Thompson* or at (3741) 51 25 68 and ask *Dr. Yelena Amirkhanyan*.

#### Thank you very much for participation.

# **APPENDIX 2. Russian Version of Study Consent Form.**

*ллллллллл ллллллллл лллллл* 

#### ????????? ??????? ???????

*^^^^^* ???????

#### ????/?????:

*^^^^* ???????

#### ??????????????????????

?????? ??????? ?? ???????:

#### ??????? ?? ???????? ??????????????

???????? ??????? ?? ????????

APPENDIX 3.	Estimated sample	size for	two -sample	comparison	of proportions
(equal samples)	). STATA results.				

Test Ho	Assumption	Estimated required sample sizes
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.4	N <sub>1</sub> =1367
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =1367
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	P <sub>1</sub> =0.18	
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.14</b>	
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.8	N <sub>1</sub> =313
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =313
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	P <sub>1</sub> =0.23	
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.14</b>	
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=2.2	N <sub>1</sub> =190
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =190
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.26$	
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.14</b>	
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=2.6	N <sub>1</sub> =117
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =117
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.30$	
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.14</b>	
	0 <b>D</b> 00	N. 00
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=3.0	$N_1 = 88$
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =88
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.33$	
	P <sub>2</sub> =0.14	

Estimated sample size for two-sample comparison of proportions (equal samples). STATA results.

Test Ho	Assumption	Estimated required sample sizes
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.4	N <sub>1</sub> =756
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =756
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.24$	
-	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.18</b>	
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.8	N <sub>1</sub> =297
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-side d)	N <sub>2</sub> =297
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	
exposed in controls	P <sub>1</sub> =0.28	

	P2=0.18	
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the proportion exposed in cases and $P_2$ is the proportion exposed in controls	$\begin{array}{c} P_{2}=0.16 \\ \hline OR=2.2 \\ alpha=0.05 \text{ (two-sided)} \\ power=0.80 \\ P_{1}=0.33 \\ P_{2}=0.18 \end{array}$	N <sub>1</sub> =145 N <sub>2</sub> =145
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the proportion exposed in cases and $P_2$ is the proportion exposed in controls	OR=2.6 alpha=0.05 (two-sided) power=0.80 $P_1=0.36$ $P_2=0.18$	N <sub>1</sub> =106 N <sub>2</sub> =106
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the proportion exposed in cases and $P_2$ is the proportion exposed in controls	OR=3.0 alpha=0.05 (two-sided) power=0.80 P <sub>1</sub> =0.39 P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.18</b>	N <sub>1</sub> =81 N <sub>2</sub> =81

Estimated sample size for two-sample comparison of proportions (equal samples). STATA results.

Test Ho	Assumption	Estimated required sample sizes		
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.4	N <sub>1</sub> =850		
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =850		
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	_		
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.28$			
L	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.22</b>			
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=1.8	N <sub>1</sub> =235		
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =235		
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80			
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.34$			
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.22</b>			
$P_1 = P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=2.2	N <sub>1</sub> =140		
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =140		
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80	-		
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.38$			
L	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.22</b>			
$P_1=P_2$ , where $P_1$ is the	OR=2.6	N <sub>1</sub> =94		
proportion exposed in cases	alpha=0.05 (two-sided)	N <sub>2</sub> =94		
and $P_2$ is the proportion	power=0.80			
exposed in controls	$P_1 = 0.42$			
	P <sub>2</sub> = <b>0.22</b>			

0R=3.0	$N_1 = 69$
lpha=0.05 (two-sided) ower=0.80	N <sub>2</sub> =69
0,1=0.46	
P₂ <b>=0.22</b>	
	pha=0.05 (two-sided) pwer=0.80 1=0.46 2= <b>0.22</b>

Estimated sample size for two-sample comparison of proportions (equal samples). STATA results.

	<b>OR</b> = 1.4	OR = 1.8	OR = 2.2	OR = 2.6	OR = 3.0
$P_{2}=0.14$	1367	313	190	117	88
$P_2 = 0.18$	756	297	145	106	81
$P_2 = 0.22$	850	235	140	94	69

Different sample sizes at different OR and  $P_2$  (proportion exposed in controls)

**APPENDIX 4. English version of the Questionnaire.** 

# ID ? \_\_\_\_/\_\_/\_\_\_

- 1. Date of interview\_\_\_\_\_
- 2. Age \_\_\_\_
- **3. Gender:** Male Female

# 4. Weight: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Height: \_\_\_\_\_\_ BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) = \_\_\_\_\_

- 5. Smoking status:
  - 1. Never smoker
  - 2. Ex-smoker
  - 3. Non-inhaling current smoker
    - Inhaling current smoker of
    - 4. 1-10 cigarettes per day
    - 5. 10-20 cigarettes per day
    - 6. 20+ cigarettes per day

# 6. How long have you smoked? (if you are nonsmoker go to the question? 8)

- 1. Less than one year
- 2. More than one year and less than 5 years
- 3. More than 5 years and less than 10 years
- 4. More than 10 years and less than 20 years
- 5. More than 20 years

### 7. What type of tobacco do you use?

- 1. Cigarettes with filters
- 2. Cigarettes without filters
- 3. Cigar
- 4. Pipe
- 5. Mixed types

# 8. At what age did you start using alcohol and what was the circumstance?

- 9. Did you continue to use it regularly after that? [] YES [] NO
- **10.** Do you presently consume alcohol beverages? [] YES [] NO If "NO", date of last drink \_\_\_\_\_

#### 11. How often did you use alcohol of any kind during last 5 years?

- 1. Daily
- 2. Weekly
- 3. Monthly

4. Yearly

5. Never

**12. Which type of alcohol beverage did you use most of the time during last 5 years?** (*Check all that apply*):

1. VODKA 2. BRANDY 3. WHISK?Y 4. BEER 5. WINE 6. LIQUOR

13. On the days that you drink, about how many drinks do you usually have each day?

1. One

2. Two

3.3-5

4. 6-9

5. 10 and more

# 14. When did you last have an alcoholic drink?

- 1. Today
- 2. Yesterday
- 3. In past week
- 4. In past 30 days
- 5. More than a month ago, but less that a year ago
- 6. More than a year ago

# 15. Think back over the *last month*, how many times have you had five or more drinks in a row?

- 1. None
- 2. Once
- 3. Twice
- 4. 3-5 times
- 5. 6-9 times
- 6. 10 or more times

16. Do you ever drink alone? [ ] YES [ ] NO

# 17. Was alcohol used in your family as you were growing up?[] YES [] NO

18. Have you or your family members ever had a colorectal cancer? [ ] YES [ ] NO

(The question ? 18 only for controls!)

**APPENDIX 5.** Russian version of the Questionnaire.

ID ? \_\_\_\_/\_\_/\_\_\_

- 6. ???? ?????????
- 7. ??????
- **8.** ???: ? ?????? ? ??????

9. ???: \_\_\_\_\_ ????: \_\_\_\_ BMI (??/? <sup>2</sup>) = \_\_\_\_

10.?????????????

1. ? ? ???? ? ?? ??????

- 2. ?????? ??????
- 3. ????, ?? ?? ??????? ??? ???? ? ?????? ??? 4. 1-10 ??????? ? ???? 5. 10-20 ??????? ? ????
  - 6. 20+ ??????? ? ????

# 

- 3. ?????? 5 ???, ?? ?????? 10 ???
- 4. ?????? 10 ???, ?? ?????? 20 ???
- 5. ?????? 20 ???

# 

#### 

[]??[]???

# 

- 4. ??????????
- 5.???????

- 3. ?????
- 4.????
- 5.????
- 6.?????

# 

- 1.????
- 2. ???
- 3.3-5
- 4.6-9
- 5.10???????

### 

- 1. ???????
- 2. ?????
- 3. ? ???? ??? ??????
- 4. ? ???????? 30 ????
- 6. ?????? ??? ??? ???? o
- - 1. ??????
  - 2. ???? ???
  - 3. ??? ????
  - 4. 3-5 ???
  - 5. 6-9 ???
  - 6. 10 ? ????? ???

# 

#